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IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT

FOR THE NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

MOHAMMED RAHMAN, individually, and on ~ No. CV 13-3482 S
behalf of other members of the general public

similarly situated, ORDER GRANTING IN PART AND
DENYING IN PART DEFENDANT’S
Plaintiff, MOTION TO DISMISS WITH LEAVE
TO AMEND
V.

MOTT'S LLP, a Delaware limited liability
partnership; and DOES 1 through 10, inclusive,

Defendants. /

Now before the Court is a motion by defenddott’s LLP (“Mott’s) to dismiss plaintiff's clas
action complaint. For the reasons below, thelCGRANTS IN PART and DENIES IN PART Mott’
motion to dismiss with leave to amend. If pldintiishes to amend his complaint, he must do sg

February 24, 2014.

BACKGROUND

46
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) by

This is a consumer class action. Defendant®ls the manufacturer of various food produfcts

containing the statement “No Sugar Added” on theels and/or packaging. Docket No. 29, F
Amended Complaint (“FAC”) 11 1-2, 6. Plaintiff Mohammed Rahman alleges that the use

rst

of t

statement “No Sugar Added” on Mott’s 100% AppleduNatural Applesauce, Healthy Harvest Sauce

Dockets.Justia.cq

m


http://dockets.justia.com/docket/california/candce/3:2013cv03482/268601/
http://docs.justia.com/cases/federal/district-courts/california/candce/3:2013cv03482/268601/46/
http://dockets.justia.com/

United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o g M~ W N PP

N NN N N N N NDND P B P B P P P PP
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N OO o » W N B O

Blueberry Delight, Healthy Harvest Sauce CouBtyry, Mott’s Healthy Harvest Sauce Granny Smith,

Healthy Harvest Sauce Peach Medley, Medleys Cherry Berry Fruit and Veggie Snack, Medley,
Apple Fruit and Veggie Snack, and Snack and G&terry Applesauce Pouch (the “Class Produg

S P
tSH)

does not comply with the applicable Food anddAdministration (“FDA”) regulations, specificaI:]y
h

21 C.F.R.8101.60(c)(2)d. 11 2, 8-15. Plaintiff further allegestidefendant’s failure to comply wi
the FDA regulations violates Caiiinia’s Sherman Law (“Sherman Law”), California Health and Sg
Code § 109875 et setd. 11 2, 17-18. Plaintiff alleges that perchased Mott’s Original 100% App
Juice and Mott’s Natural Applesauce after ragdand relying on the products’ “No Sugar Addg
labeling. Id. 1 33-34. Plaintiff alleges thae would not have purchastt products if they did ng
contain the “No Sugar Added” labelkd. { 34.

On June 13, 2013, plaintiff filealclass action complaint in San Francisco County Superior

against defendants Mott’s and Drper Snapple Group, Inc. (“Dr. Pepper”), alleging causes of &

fety
e

bal”

~+

Coul

Ctior

for: (1) violation of California’s Unfair Compiion Law (“UCL"), California Business and Professions

Code 8§ 17200 et seq; (2) violatiohCalifornia’s False Advertisingaw (“FAL”), California Businesg
and Professions Code 8§ 17500 et seq; (3) varladf California’s Consumers Legal Remedies
(“CLRA"), California Civil Code8 1750 et seq; (4) negligent misrepresentation; and (5) breg
quasi-contract. Compl. 11 67-76. On July 2613, defendants removed the action to this C
pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1441(b) based on tres<Action Fairness Act (“CAFA”), 28 U.S.C.
1332(d). Docket No. 1, Notice of Removal. Bagust 30, 2013, plaintiff voluntarily dismissed [
Pepper. Docket No. 21. On August 30, 2013, defendattts filed a motion to dismiss, Docket N
22, and on September 30, 2013, plaitiiéd a first amended complai@FAC”), mooting the original
motion to dismiss. Docket N29. By the present motion, defendant Mott’s moves pursuant to F¢
Rules of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1hd 12(b)(6) to dismiss all of the causes of action in plaintiff's F
Docket No. 23.
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LEGAL STANDARD
l. Rule 12(b)(1) Motion to Dismiss

Federal Rule of Civil Procedure 12(b)(1) allows a party to challenge a federal court’s juris

over the subject matter of the complairBeeFed. R. Civ. Pro. 12(b)]{1 The party invoking the

jurisdiction of the federal court bears the burdeastéblishing that the court has the requisite suf
matter jurisdiction to grant the relief request8de Kokkonen v. Guardian Life Ins. Co. of AmeBda
U.S. 375, 377 (1994) (citation omitted). A complairit e dismissed if, looking at the complaint
awhole, it appears to lack federal juictobn either “facially” or “factually.” Thornhill Pub’g Co., Inc.
v. General Tel. & Elecs. Corpb94 F.2d 730, 733 (9th Cir. 1979). Whthe complaint is challenge
for lack of subject matter jurisdictn on its face, all material allegatis in the complaint will be take
as true and construed in the light most favorable to the plaiNtiffndus. v. Kaplan792 F.2d 896, 89
(9th Cir. 1986). In deciding a Rule 12(b)(1) neotiwhich mounts a factual attack on jurisdiction, *
presumptive truthfulness attaches to plaintiff’s altexes, and the existence of disputed material f

will not preclude the trial court from evaluating for itself the merits of jurisdictional claims. More

the plaintiff will have the burden of protiat jurisdiction does in fact existMortensen v. First Fed.

Sav. & Loan Ass’n549 F.2d 884, 891 (3d Cir. 1977).

Federal courts have a duty to raise and decide issues of subject matter jurisdacEpontat
any time it appears that subject matter jurisdiction may be lacl8egFed. R. Civ. Proc. 12(h)(3
Augustine v. United Stateg04 F.2d 1074, 1077 (9th Cir. 1983). If the Court determines that st

matter jurisdiction is lacking, it must dismiss the case.

Il. Rule 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss

To survive a Rule 12(b)(6) motion to dismiss tiaintiff must allege “enough facts to stat

claim to relief that is plausible on its facéBell Atl. Corp. v. Twomblyb50 U.S. 544, 570 (2007). This

“facial plausibility” standard requires the plaintiff to allege facts that add up to “more than 3
possibility that a Defendaitas acted unlawfully.”Ashcroft v. Igbal129 S. Ct. 1937, 1949 (2004
While courts do not require “heightened fact plegdof specifics,” a plaintiff must allege fag

sufficient to “raise a right to relief above the speculative levélwombly 550 U.S. at 544, 555. “/
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pleading that offers ‘labels and conclusions’ or ‘a formulaic recitation of the elements of a cause

action will not do.” Igbal, 556 U.S. at 678 (quotingvombly 550 U.S. at 555). “Nor does a complajint

suffice if it tenders ‘naked assertion[s] vied of ‘further factual enhancement.”ld. (quoting
Twombly 550 U.S. at 557). “While legal conclusions gaavide the framework of a complaint, th

must be supported by factual allegationkd”

9
<

In reviewing a Rule 12(b)(6) motion, a districiuct must accept as true all facts alleged in[the

complaint, and draw all reasonable inferences in favor of the plaibé&#.al-Kidd v. Ashcrgf80 F.3d

949, 956 (9th Cir. 2009). However, aflict court is not required to aceeys true “allegations that afe

merely conclusory, unwarranted deductions of fact, or unreasonable inferdnce<zilead Scis. Seg.
Litig., 536 F.3d 1049, 1055 (9th Cir. 2008). Moreover, tdreet that a court must accept as true all

the allegations contained in a complainihigpplicable to legal conclusionslfbal, 556 U.S. at 678§

In considering a motion to dismiss, the court may ja#teial notice of matters of public record outsi[j
the pleadingsSee MGIC Indemn. Corp. v. Weism803 F.2d 500, 504 (9th Cir. 1986). If the Cq

dismisses a complaint, it must decide whethegrant leave to amendThe Ninth Circuit hag

of

e

rt

“repeatedly held that a district court should ¢rimave to amend even if no request to amend the

pleading was made, unless it determines that tedpig could not possibly be cured by the allegat

on

of other facts.”Lopez v. Smith203 F.3d 1122, 1130 (9th Cir. 2000) (citations and internal quotgtiol

marks omitted).

DISCUSSION
l. Plaintiff's Mislabeling Allegations

Defendant argues that the FAC should be dised because plaintiff fails to allege that

defendant’s labeling violates FDA regulations gomeg the use of “No Sugar Added” statement

S.

Def.’s Mot. at 5-14. In respong@aintiff argues that he has adetplg alleged that the Class Produgts

violate California law by failing to comply with 23.F.R. 88 101.60(c)(2)(ii), (iv), (v). Docket No. 36
Pl’s Opp’n at 5-12.

All of the claims in the FAC are premised onipliff's contention that defendant’s products are

mislabeled under California’s Sherman Lawd& DA regulations. F& 1 55-57, 63-64, 76-78, 85, 90.
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California’s Sherman Law broadlyggribits the misbranding of foodzarm Raised Salmon Caség

Cal. 4th 1077, 1086 (2008) (citing Cal. HeaBhSafety Code § 110765). The Sherman L

incorporates all food labeling regulations and any amendments to those regulations adopted

to the Food, Drug, and CosmetictAat 1938 (“FDCA”) as the food labeling regulations of Califorr]
Id. at 1087; Cal. Health & Safety Code § 110100¢ag alsaCal. Health & Safety Code 88 11066

110670. The relevant FDCA labeling regulation, 21 C.F.R. 8 101.60(c)(2), provides:

The terms “no added sugar,” “without addrayar,” or “no sugar added” may be used
only if:

(i) No amount of sugars, as defined in 8 101.9(c)(6)(ii), or any other ingredient that
contains sugars that functionally substitimeadded sugars is added during processing
or packaging; and

(i) The product does not contain an ingredieontaining added sugars such as jam,
jelly, or concentrated fruit juice; and

(i) The sugars content has not been increased above the amount present in th
ingredients by some means such as tleeafsenzymes, except where the intended
functional effect of the process is notihcrease the sugars content of a food, and a
functionally insignificant increase in sugars results; and

(iv) The food that it resembles and for iahn it substitutes normally contains added
sugars; and

(v) The product bears a statement that the f®adt “low calorie” or “calorie reduced”
(unless the food meets the requirements ftov&’ or “reduced calorie” food) and that
directs consumers’ attention to the nudrtipanel for further information on sugar and
calorie content.

A. 21 C.F.R.§101.60(c)(2)ii)

Plaintiff alleges that the Class Products faitéonply with section 101.60(c)(2)(ii) because

products contain concentrated fruit juice asrgmedient. FAC {1 11-12, 15. Defendant argues

plaintiff's allegations are insufficient because sixtefproducts do not contain concentrated fruit jy

as an ingredient, and the other products do not usentated fruit juice as a sweetener. Def.’'s M

at 6-9.

In order to use the term “No Sugar Addesg'ttion 101.60(c)(2)(ii) requires that the prod
does not contain an ingredient containing added swsg@&fsas jam, jelly, or concentrated fruit jui
21 C.F.R. 8 101.60(c)(2)(ii). Plaintiff argues thastbection provides a blanket prohibition agai

using the term “No Sugar Added” if the product camsaany concentrated fruit juice as an ingredi
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Pl.’s Opp’n at 10. However, this interpretation slo@t comply with the formal position of the FO
regarding “No Sugar Added” labelinghe FDA has advised that the use of concentrated fruit juicq
not necessarily preclude the uga “No Sugar Added” clairh.See58 Fed. Reg. 2302, 2327-28 (J:
6, 1993). Specifically, the FDA expled that “the addition of watéw a juice concentrate to produ
a single strength juiéavould not preclude the use of a ‘no added sugar’ claim” as long as the
conditions for the claim are still metd. at 2328. The FDA also explained that “the addition
concentrate of the same juice to achieve uniformawla/not, in itself, precludthe use of a ‘no sugd
added’ claim, provided, the other conditions for theclaie met. If a concemtie of another juice wer
added for the purpose of increasing the sugar cootéhe finished juice, the product could not b
a ‘no sugar added’ claim.Id. at 2327-28. Thus, according to the FDA, fruit juice concentrate m
used in a food product as long as its purpose is mottease the sugar content of the finished prog
See also idat 2328 (explaining that the regulations do paclude “the use of enzymes or ot
processes where the intended functional effect of theegss is not to increase the sugars content
food, even though an increase in sugars that is functionally insignificant does occur”).

Plaintiff argues that the requirement that the ingredient be used to increase the sugar c
the finished product only applies to section 101.4@{¢), not 101.60(c)(2)(ii). Pl.’s Opp’n at 10-1
The Court disagrees. Under plaintiff's interptieta of the regulations, the term “No Sugar Addg
could never be used if the product contained any anudwaincentrated fruit juice, but that is direc
contrary to FDA'’s position which allows concentratedt juice to be used in certain circumstang
See58 Fed. Reg. at 2327-28.

Here, plaintiff only alleges that the Class Prodacesmade from concentrated fruit juice. FA
19 11-12, 15. Plaintiff does not allege facts showingthainclusion of concentrated fruit juice as

ingredient in the products was for the purpose ofgasing the sugar content of the finished prod

121 C.F.R. 8§ 10.85(d)(1) provides that “[a] sta¢@tof policy or interpretation made in . |. .

[a]ny portion of a FEDERAL REGISTER notice otheaththe text of a proposed or final regulatid
will constitute an advigy opinion. 21 C.F.R. 8§ 10.85(e) fhar provides: “An advisory opinio
represents the formal poen of FDA on a matter.”See alsd?21 C.F.R. 8§ 10.85(j) (“An advisor
opinion may be used in administrative or court proceedings to illustrate acceptable and unag
procedures or standards, but not as a legal requirement.”).

2The FDA regulations define single-strengtitguas 100% juice. 21 C.F.R. § 101.30(h)(
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Therefore, plaintiff has failed to sufficiently alletiat the Class Products fail to comply with sectjon

101.60(c)(2)(ii)®

B. 21 C.F.R.§101.60(c)(2)(V)

Plaintiff alleges that the Class Products fatéonply with section 101.60(c)(2)(v) because
products do not state on their labels that the pradunit “low calorie” or “calorie reduced.” FAC 1
11-13. Defendant argues that plaintiff fails to allege sufficient facts showing that the Class Pro
not qualify as “calorie reduced.” Def's Mot. at 11-14.

In order to use the term “No Sugar Added,” section 101.60(c)(2)(v) requires that the prody
a statement that the food is not “low caddrior “calorie reduced” unless the food meets
requirements for a “low” or “rduced calorie” food. 21 C.F.R. § 101.60(c)(2)(v). The term “redy
calorie” may be used if the food containslesst 25 percent fewer calories per reference am
customarily consumed than an appropriate referdéood as described in1®1.13(j)(1). 21 C.F.R.
101.60(b)(4). Section 101.13(j)(1)(i))(Byovides: “For . . . ‘reduced,’ . . . claims, the reference f
shall be a similar food (e.g., potato chips as a reéeréor potato chips, one brand of multivitamin
another brand of multivitamin) . . . .” Section 101.13(j)(1)(ii) further requires that the apprg

reference food “is the manufacturer's regulaarat, another manufacturer’s regular brand, ¢

representative value for a broad base of foods of the particular tgp&ajlaj v. Campbell Soup Cqa.

782 F. Supp. 2d 84, 94 (D. N.J. 204dijing 58 Fed. Reg. at 2362)cord21 C.F.R. 8 101.13(j))(1)(ii)}

In the FAC, plaintiff alleges that the ClaBsoducts do not qualify as “reduced calorie” fg
because they have the same, or substantially sjrodkoric content as th@oper reference food. FA

17 11, 13. As to defendant’'s 100% Apple Juice,npflialleges that it contains the same o

the
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%1n addition, the Court rejects plaintiff's cont@m that under the regulations, puree concenfrate

is the same as fruit juice concentrate. In mgkhis argument, plairtirelies on the definition o
“Juice” provided in the FDA Food Cod8ee~AC { 15 n.6; Pl.’s Opp’at 11-12. The FDA Food Cod
expressly states that the term “Juice” only includes purees or concentrates if they are *
BEVERAGES or ingredients of BEVERAGES.SeeFDA Food Code § 1-201.10(B), available
http://www.fda.gov/Food/GuidanceRegutatiRetailFoodProtection/FoodCode/ucm186464.1
“Beverage” is defined as “a liquid for drinking, including watetd. Plaintiff does not allege thg
defendant is using puree concentrate in its beverafgeshe contrary, platiff alleges that the pure
concentrate is used in defendant’s sauces. FAC | 15.
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substantially similar number of calories as “other comparable apple juice products offered by
competitors.” Id. § 11. As to defendant’s sauce products, plaintiff alleges, for example, that
Natural Apple sauce contains slightly more calories than Treetop and Kroger’s natural, unsw
applesauce. FAC 1 13. Plaintitso alleges that Mott's Snack and Go Strawberry Applesauce R
contains only slightly fewer calories than Treetop’s Strawberry Applesauce poudhd?laintiff's

reference to these competitor products is insufftdigntself to allege that the Class Products do
qualify as reduced calorie foods under secfift.60(b)(4). Under section 101.60(b)(4), a foo
considered “reduced calorie” if the food containgast 25 percent fewer calories per reference an
than an appropriate reference food. 21 C.FF1860(b)(4). Section 101.13(j)(1)(ii) is written in t
disjunctive, and provides that an appropriate refegefood may be similar food that is either

manufacturer’s regular product, another manufactupeoguct, or the appropriate representative v4
for that particular type of foodSee21 C.F.R. § 101.13(j)(1)(i)Smajlaj 782 F. Supp. 2d at 94

Therefore, under the regulations, there are three aséou particular food to be considered “redu

calorie.” The food can qualify as reduced calorie so long as it contains at least 25 percent fewef

per reference amount than similar food that is either the manufacturer’s regular product, a
manufacturer’'s product, or the appropriate representative value for that type of food. PI3
allegations only address one of the three aventies-Slass Products when referenced against ¢
manufacturers’ products. FAC {1 11, 13. Plainidés not allege that the Class Products coulg
qualify as “reduced calorie” when referenced against defendant’s regular products or the apy
representative values for those types of food. Thegeplaintiff has failed tsufficiently allege tha
the Class Products cannot qualify as “reduced calorie” foods under section 101.60(b)(4).

plaintiff has failed to allege suffient facts showing that the Class Products do not qualify as “req
calorie” foods, plaintiff has failed foroperly allege that the ClassoBucts fail to comply with sectio

101.60(c)(2)(v).

C. 21C.F.R. §101.60(c)(2)(iv)
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Plaintiff alleges that the Cda Products fail to comply witection 101.60(c)(2)(iv) because ngne

of the products resemble and substitute for faldsnormally contain added sugar. FAC 1 11-12

14.
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Defendant argues that plaintiff fats allege sufficient facts to support this contention. Def.’s Mat. at

10-11.
In order to use the term “No Sugar Addeskttion 101.60(c)(2)(iv) requires that the food {
the product resembles and for which it substifuresmally contains added sugars. 21 C.F.H

101.60(c)(2)(iv). In the FAC, plaintiff alleges tha¢fendant’s apple juice does not resemble

hat
. §

and

substitute for food that normally contains added sbgaause other brands of apple juice generally do

not contain added sugar due to the substantial inherent sugar content of apple juice. FA
Accordingly, plaintiff has sufficiently alleged ah the food that defendant’'s 100% Apple Ju
resembles and for which it substitutes does not nibrroantain added sugaand, therefore, hal

properly alleged a violation of section 101.60(c)(2)(v) as to this préduct.

\C
ice

S

However, plaintiff does not allege that otlirands of apple sauce generally do not contain

added sugar. Specifically, plaintiff alleges ie fAC, “none of Mott's Sauce Products resemble
substitute for foods that northacontain added sugar.CoémpareMott's Natural Applesauce wit
Treetop Natural Applesauce).” FAC | 14. Plaintiff's citation to a single competitor’'s applesa
insufficient to allege that defendant’s saym®ducts violate section 101.60(c)(2)(iv). Sect
101.60(c)(2)(iv) requires that the food that thedarct resembles and for which it substitutes norm
contains added sugars. An allegation that omgcpéar type of applesauce does not contain ag
sugar is not the same as an allegation that applesauce normally does not contain add
Accordingly, plaintiff has failed to sufficiently allegjeat defendant’s sauce products fail to comply V
section 101.60(c)(2)(v).
I

I

421 C.F.R. § 101.13(d) provides: “A ‘substitutedfl is one that may be used interchange
with another food that it resembles, i.e., that it is organoleptically, physically, and functi
(including shelf life) similar to, and that it is not nutritionally inferior to unless it is labeled :
‘imitation.” As an example, the FDA states thhé food “no salt added” canned corn resembles
for which it substitutes is canned conot frozen corn. 58 Fed. Reg. at 2328¢ als®b6 Fed. Reg
60421, 60432 (Nov. 27, 1991) (stating thatdmm free Italian bread” is a substitute for Italian brex

® Defendant argues that other types of juicesainr@dded sugar, such as Cranberry Apple J
Cocktail and Cranberry Apple Raspberry Juice.fPDklot. at 10-11. But, defendant has failed
explain how its 100% Apple Juice product would qyadis a “substitute” for these juices under
regulations.

and
5
AUCE
on

ally
ded
pd
vith

hbly
pnal
hS a
anc

nd).
uice

to
the




United States District Court
For the Northern District of California

© 00 N o g M~ W N PP

N NN N N N N NDND P B P B P P P PP
© N o 00 A W N P O © © N OO o » W N B O

D. Conclusion
In sum, plaintiff has failed to properly alletfet the defendant’s sauce products are mislal
under federal and state law, and plaintiff has gnbperly alleged that defendant’s 100% Apple Jy
is mislabeled because it fails to comply with 2E.®. § 101.60(c)(2)(v). Becae all of the claims it
the FAC are premised on plaintiff's contentioratthhe Class Products are mislabeled, the G
dismisses all of plaintiff's claimagainst defendant’s sauce prodicthe Court will address plaintiff’

claims as they relate to defendant’s 100% Apple Juice below.

Il. Primary Jurisdiction

Defendant argues that the Cahrould dismiss the action under the primary jurisdiction doc

and refer the case to the FDA. Def.’s Mot. atl54-“The primary jurisdiction doctrine allows couf

to stay proceedings or to dismiss a complairtteut prejudice pending the résgtion of an issue withir]
the special competence of an administrative ager@@ark v. Time Warner Cabl23 F.3d 1110, 111

(9th Cir. 2008). “[T]he doctrine is a ‘prudential’ one, under which a court determines that an ot

elec
lice
|

ourt

\"ZJ

rine

a

erw

cognizable claim implicates technical and policy questihat should be addressed in the first instance

by the agency with regulatory authority over thevaftg industry rather thaoy the judicial branch.’
Id. “The doctrine does not, however, ‘require thatkims within an agency’s purview be decided
the agency.” Davel Communs., Inc. v. Qwest Cos60 F.3d 1075, 1087 (9th Cir. 2006).
Although no fixed formula exists for applyingetidoctrine, the Ninth Circuit has traditiona
examined the following factors: “(1) [a] need t@odve an issue that (2) filaeen placed by Congre
within the jurisdiction of an administrative body having regulatory authority (3) pursuant to a
that subjects an industry or activity to a comprehensive regulatory authority that (4) requires ¢
or uniformity in administration.” Clark, 523 F.3d at 1115. BhNinth Circuit has explained that ti
doctrine “is properly invoked whencdaim is cognizable in federal court but requires resolution g

issue of first impression, or of a particuladgmplicated issue that Congress has committed

® In its motion, defendant argues that plairtiffks standing to assert claims based on proc
that he did not purchase, specifically defendahtealthy Harvest, Medleys, and Snack and

by

ly
SS

Statl

Xpel

ucts
Go

products. Def.’s Mot. at 13-14. Because the Cdisrhisses plaintiff's claims against those produts,

defendant’s lack of standing argument is moot.
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regulatory agency.”Brown v. MCIl Worldcom Network Servs., In277 F.3d 1166, 1172 (9th Cir.

2002).

“[F]ood regulation is undoubtedly in the purview ahd an area of ‘special competence’ for,

the FDA.” Morgan v. Wallaby Yogurt C02013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144959, at *13 (N.D. Cal. Oct

2013). However, this case does not present andad$ust impression. The FDA has provided expr

2SS

guidance on the use of ttegm “No Sugar Added.See21 C.F.R. § 101.60(c)(2). Courts in this distfict

have declined to stay or dismiss cases undeptingary jurisdiction doctrine in the food labeling

context where “the FDA has made its position on thelkat issue reasonably clear and is not acti
engaged in revising the applicable regulations or poliByuton v. Gerber Prods. Cd2013 U.S. Dist
LEXIS 129241, at *46 n.13 (N.D. Cal. Sept. 6 20X%e also lvie v. Kraft Foods Global, In2013

U.S. Dist. LEXIS 93940, at *25 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 28, 20@@]laintiff’'s case does not require this colrt

to determine difficult issues of first impressiorttbe left to the FDA’s expertise, but instead o
requires the application of well-understood FDA regjates directly on point.”). Moreover, the ca

does not involve particularly complicated issues as the Court is “well-equipped to handle”

vely

Nty
e

clai

asserting “that defendant has violated FDA reijuts and marketed a product that could mislead a

reasonable consumerChacanaca v. Quaker Oats C@52 F. Supp. 2d 1111, 1124 (N.D. Cal. 2010);

see also Jones v. ConAgra Foods, ,|8d2 F. Supp. 2d 889, 898-99 (N@Cal. 2012) (“[A]llegations
of deceptive labeling do not require the expertise ®@RRDA to be resolved in the courts, as every
courts decide whether conduct is misleading.”¢cdxdingly, the Court declines to dismiss the ac}

pursuant to the primary jurisdiction doctrine.

[ll.  Plaintiff's UCL, FAL, and CLRA Claims

Plaintiff alleges causes of action against defenftantiolations of the UCL, the FAL, and th
CLRA. FAC 1 53-82. Defendant argues that disrhisisthese three claims is appropriate becq
plaintiff has failed to allege fagshowing that a reasonable consumer would be deceived by Mott

Sugar Added” labeling. Def.’s Mot. at 15-19.
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A. The Unlawful Prong of the UCL

California’s UCL prohibits “any umwful . . . business act or ptee.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Codjs
§ 17200. “By proscribing ‘any unlawful’ busineggactice, ‘section 17200 “borrows” violations
other laws and treats them as unlawful practittest the unfair competition law makes independe
actionable.” Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephon@@@Gal. 4th 163
180 (1999). Virtually any law—federal, state or lee@lan serve as a predicate for an action unde
unlawful prong of the UCL Durell v. Sharp Healthcar€el83 Cal. App. 4th 1350, 1361 (2010).

Defendant argues that plaintiftéCL claim should be dismissed for failure to allege facts
would satisfy the reasonable consumer test. Howéve reasonable consumer test does not apy
claims brought under the unlawful prong of the U@ee Daro v. Superior Court51 Cal. App. 4th
1079, 1099 n.9 (2007®itson v. Trader Joe’s CA2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 144917, at*19n.5 (N.D. G
Oct. 4, 2013)see also Cel-Tech Communications, Inc. v. Los Angeles Cellular Telephp26 Cal.
4th 163, 180 (1999) (“Because Business and Professions Code section 17200 is writte
disjunctive, it establishes three varieties of unfampetition—acts or practices which are unlaw
or unfair, or fraudulent. In other words, a pree is prohibited as unfair or deceptive even if
unlawful and vice versa.” (internal quotation maoksitted)). Plaintiff SUCL claim is brought unde|
the unlawful prong in addition to the fraudulendipg. FAC 11 55. As explained above, plaintiff |
sufficiently alleged that defendant’s 100% Appleddails to comply with 21 C.F.R. § 101.60(c)(2)(
and, thus, violates California’s Sherman Law. Acoayly, plaintiff has propeyl stated a claim again
defendant’s 100% Apple Juice for violation oétanlawful prong of the UCL, and the Court den

defendant’s motion to dismiss this claim.

"In its reply, defendant argues that plaintiffslawful” UCL claim requires proof of reliancg

Docket No. 37, Def.’s Reply at 12-13. Although theurt agrees that the claim requires proo
reliance see Figy v. Amy’s Kitchen, In2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 167723, &-11 (N.D. Cal. Nov. 25
2013), defendant does not argue thairiff has failed to allege actual reliance on the labeling at ig
In the FAC, plaintiff alleges that he read theo"Sugar Added” label prior to purchasing defendal
products, and that he would not have bought the ptsdfitbey did not comtin the “No Sugar Added
labeling. FAC 11 33-34.
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B. The FAL, the CLRA, and the Fraudulent Prong of the UCL

California’s UCL prohibits any “fraudulent bussgact or practice.” Cal. Bus. & Prof. Co
§ 17200. California’s FAL prohibits any “unfair, ceptive, untrue, or misleading advertisindd.
8 17500. California’s Consumer Legal Remeddet (“CLRA”) prohibits “unfair methods of
competition and unfair or deceptive acts or practices.” Cal. Civ. Code § 1770.

False advertising claims under the FAL, @IeRA, and the fraudulent prong of the UCL §
governed by the reasonable consumer stand&itiams v. Gerber Products C®b52 F.3d 934, 93
(9th Cir. 2008);Kasky v. Nike, In¢.27 Cal. 4th 939, 951 (2002). Under the reasonable cong

standard, a plaintiff must show that mensbefrthe public are likely to be deceivallilliams, 552 F.3d

de

\re

ume

at 938 (“The California Supreme Court has recognized that these laws prohibit not only advertis

which is false, but also advertising which[,Jraltigh true, is either actually misleading or which h

capacity, likelihood or tendency to deceive or csefthe public.” (internal quotation marks omitteg

NS a

).

The question of whether a business practice is deedptgenerally a question of fact not amenable to

determination on a motion to dismidd. Nevertheless, “where a court can conclude as a matter ¢

that members of the public are not likely to be deceived by the product packaging, dism

appropriate.”"Werbel v. Pepsico, Inc2010 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 76289, at *8-9 (N.D. Cal. Jul. 2, 201

see also William$52 F.3d at 939 (explaining that dismissalppropriate where “it was not necess
to evaluate additional evidence regjag whether the advertising wasceptive, since the advertisems
itself made it impossible for the plaintiff to prove that a reasonable consumer was likely

deceived”).

Moreover, under Federal Rule of Civil Prdoee 9(b), a plaintiff must plead fraud with

particularity. “Rule 9(b)’s particularity requimeent applies to state-law causes of actioWess v.
Ciba-Geigy Corp. USA317 F.3d 1097, 1103 (9th Cir. 2003). Tieth Circuit has specifically hel
that Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleading standard apielaims for violationf the UCL, FAL, or CLRA

that are grounded in frau&ee idat 1103-06Kearns v. Ford Motor Cp567 F.3d 1120, 1125 (9th Cir.

2009). To satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heightened pleadiagdard, “[aJverments of fraud must be accompat
by ‘the who, what, when, where, and how’ of the misconduct charddddt 1106 (quotingCcooper
v. Picketf 137 F.3d 616, 627 (9th Cir.19973ge also In re Glenfed, Inc. Sec. Litd2 F.3d 1541, 154
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(9th Cir. 1994) (“[A] plaintiff must set forth morthan the neutral facts necessary to identify
transaction. The plaintiff must set forth whatatse or misleading about a statement, and why
false.”).

In the FAC, plaintiff alleges that defendant’sdlSugar Added” labeling is likely to mislead t
consuming public into believing that the Cld&&®oducts are healthier and contain less sugar
comparable products. FAC § 34. These allegatiangaufficient to satisfy Rule 9(b)’s heighten
pleading standard. The labeling at issue merelgsthat the products contain “No Sugar Added.”

labeling does not draw comparisons between the product and other products. Plaintiff has

he

—

itis

=)

e

thar

The

faile

explain in his allegations why reasonable cormsnwould be likely to draw product comparigon

conclusions based on the labeling at issue. Moregplantiff has failed to allege what “comparab

e

products” he is referring to in the complaint. Rtdf also fails to allege whether these compargble

products also contain the label “No Sugar Added.&r€fore, plaintiff has failed to set forth sufficignt

facts explaining why the labeling is misleadin§eeGlenfed 42 F.3d at 1548 (“Thelaintiff must set

forth what is false or misleading about a stateimand why it is false.”). Accordingly, the Co|

dismisses plaintiff's claims under the FALetlCLRA, and the fraud prong of the UCL agai
defendant’s 100% Apple Juice.

IV.  Plaintiff's Claim for Negligent Misrepresentation
Plaintiff alleges a cause of action against ddéat for negligent misrepresentation. FAC {1

87. Defendants argue that this claim should Beised because plaintiff has failed to identify

misrepresentations on the labels, and plaintiff's atlega fail to satisfy Rule 9(b). Def.’s Mot. at 23.

Under California law, to state a claim for neglng misrepresentation, plaintiff must allege t

t

=

nst

83-

ANy

nat

defendant made: (1) a misrepresentation of a past or existing material fact, (2) without regson

& In his opposition, plaintiff argues that there is no law requiring that for a product

to t

misleading, the consumer must draw comparisotvedsan that product and a competing product. Pl.’s

Opp’n at 15. Although the Court agrees that thermisuch law, there is a law requiring plaintiff
explain in his allegations why fdant’s labeling is misleadingeeFed. R. Civ. P. 9(b{zlenfed 42
F.3d at 1548. Because plaintiff alleges that thellag is misleading because it causes the consu

—+

(0]

Mming

public to believe that the Class Products are healthier and contain less sugar than comparable| pro
plaintiff must explain in his allegation why a reasble consumer is likely to draw those inferences

based on the labeling.
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ground for believing it to be true,)(&ith intent to induce anothertgliance on the misrepresentatiq

(4) ignorance of the truth and jiigble reliance on the misrepresatibn by the party to whom it wg

directed, and (5) resulting damagelenn K. Jackson Inc. v. Ra&73 F.3d 1192, 1201, n. 2 (9th G

2001). “It is well-established in the Ninth Circuit that both claims for fraud and neg
misrepresentation must meet Rule 9(b)’s particularity requirementtilson v. Union Bank @

California, N.A, 290 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1141 (C.D. Cal. 2088 also, e.gVidor v. Am. Int'| Group,

Inc., 491 Fed. App’x 828, 829 (9th Cir. 201(Bplding that a district cotproperly dismissed plaintiff's

fraud and negligence misrepresentation claims for failure to satisfy Rule 9(b)'s partid
requirement).

In the FAC, plaintiff alleges: “Mott’s knew, ahould have known by the exercise of reason
care, that a ‘No Sugar Added’ claim may not kecptl on the label of a fo@d beverage product th
contains fruit juice concentrate, and/or that does not resemble and substitute for a food that
contains added sugars, and/or tfads to indicate it is not a lowr reduced calorie food.” FAC 1 8

Because this claim relies on allegations of frawad the Court has found insufficient with respec

DN,
S
Ir.

iger

ular

Able
il

horn
b.

to

plaintiff's other claimssee supraections |.A, 1.B, Ill.B, those allegations are insufficient to plead a

misrepresentation with respect to this cause of action.

In addition, plaintiff has failed to plead justible reliance. “In addition to pleading acty
reliance, the plaintiff must set ‘forth facts to shthat his or her actual reliance on the representa
was justifiable, so that the caudfehe damage was the defendantteng and not the plaintiff’s fault.”

Beckwith v. Dahl205 Cal. App. 4th 1039, 1066 (2012). “There must be more pled than a

jal

ion:s

5imy

statement plaintiff justifiably relied on the statemeritee complaint must contain ‘allegations of falcts

showing that the actual inducement of plaintiffs . . . was justifiable or reasondbleat’1066-67. In
the FAC, plaintiff simply alleges that he relied on the “No Sugar Added” labels. FAC 1 3
Plaintiff does not allege any facts showing that his reliance on the statements was jus

Accordingly, the Court dismisses plaintiff's claim for negligent misrepresentation.
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V. Plaintiff’'s Claim for Breach of Quasi-Contract

Plaintiff alleges a cause of action against ddémt for breach of quasontract. FAC 11 88-92.

Defendant argues that this claim should be dismdibseause the claim is not an independent cau
action under California law, and the claim is dughaaof the remedies sought under plaintiff's otk
causes of action. Def.’s Mot. at 23-24. Plaintiff agytiat he may plead, in the alternative, claimg
restitution based on quasi-contract. Pl.’s Opp’n at 20-21.

Under California law, unjust enrichment is “not a cause of action . . . or even a reme

S€ C
her

for

dy, |

rather a principle, underlying various legal doctrines and remedies. Itis synonymous with restijtutic

McBride v. Boughtonl23 Cal. App. 4th 379, 387 (2004). There are several potential bases for
of action seeking restitution, including “where tthefendant obtained a benefit from the plaintiff
fraud, duress, conversion, or similar conduct. In sades, the plaintiff may choose not to sue in |
but instead to seek restitution on a quasi-contract theddutell, 183 Cal. App. 4th at 1370 (quotin

McBride, 123 Cal. App. 4th at 388). “In such easwhere appropriate, the law will imply a contr

(or rather, a quasi-contract), without regard to thiégs intent, in order to avoid unjust enrichment.

Id.

Here, plaintiff alleges through defendant’sawful and deceptive misbranding of the CIj
Products, defendant has obtained the benefit aihfifi’'s payments for the products. FAC { ¢
Although the Court has found seves@plaintiff's allegations regarding defendant’s misconduct t¢
insufficient, the Court has found that plaintiff ieperly alleged that defendant’s 100% Apple Jy
is mislabeled under 21 C.F.R. 8 101.60(c)(2)(iv). €fme, plaintiff has mperly pleaded a cause
action for breach of quasi-contract with respedhts alleged misconduct. However, this claimn

inconsistent with plaintiff's tort claims. Therefort®, the extent that plaiiff is ultimately able to

prevail under a tort theory, he will be preclddeom also recovering under this clairBee Larsen \|.

Trader Joe’s Cq.2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 162402, at *21 (N.D. Cal. Jun. 14, 20@&¢le Corp. v. SAR
AG, 2008 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 103300, at *24 (N.D. Cak® 15, 2008). Accordingly, the Court declir

to dismiss plaintiff's claim for breach of quasi-contract.
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VI.  Plaintiff's Standing to Seek Injunctive Relief

Defendant argues that plaintiff lacks article Il standing to seek injunctive relief because p
has not alleged that he intends to continue purmcaise Class Products. Defiviot. at 20-23. To hav
standing to obtain injunctive relief pdaintiff must allege that a “realr immediate threat” exists th
he will be wronged againCity of Los Angeles v. Lyon#61 U.S. 95, 111 (1983¢ee also Chapma
v. Pier 1 Imps. (U.S.), Inc631 F.3d 939, 946 (9th Cir. 2011) (“[T]o establish standing to py

injunctive relief, . . . [plaintifff must demonstrate aat and immediate threat of repeated injury’ in th

future.”). The alleged threat cannot be “conjectural” or “hypotheticay6ns 461 U.S. at 101-04.

“Past exposure to illegal conduct domot in itself show a present case or controversy rega
injunctive relief . . . if unaccompanied bgyacontinuing, present adverse effect®’Shea v. Littleton
414 U.S. 488, 495-96 (1974).

Defendant argues that plaintiff lacks standingrigunctive relief because plaintiff is now ful

aware of the alleged misrepresentations. Thisrt has previously rejected this argumeéde Larsen

2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 162402, at *10-14W]ere the Court to accept the suggestion that plaintiff[

mere recognition of the alleged deception operatdsfeat standing for an injunction, then injunct

relief would never be available in false adisgng cases, a wholly unrealistic resulRies v. Ariz. Bevy.

United States LLC, Hornell Brewing C@87 F.R.D. 523, 533 (N.D. Cal. 2012) (citiHgnderson v
Gruma Corp, 2011 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 41077, at *19-20 (C.D.IGspr. 11, 2011)). However, the Coy
agrees with defendant that to establish standingtgfanust allege that he intends to purchase
products at issue in the fututeSee Jou v. Kimberly-Clark Cor2013 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 173216,

*13 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 10, 2013) (rejecting “Plaintifisontention that it is unnecessary for them
maintain any interest in purchasing the productkerfuture” in order to establish Article Il standi
for injunctive relief);see also Rie287 F.R.D. at 533-34 (finding thalaintiffs had standing to pursu
injunctive relief where they alleged that theteimded to purchase the products in the futide)arosa
v. Boiron, Inc, 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 188828, at *7-17 (N.Bal. 2012) (finding plaintiff lacked

standing where she did not dispute that she does not intend to purchase the product in the futu

°® The Court declines to follow its prior analysidiarsen 2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 162402 ar
Koehler v. Litehouse, Inc2012 U.S. Dist. LEXIS 176971 (N.D. Cal. Dec. 13, 2012) to the extg
conflicts with the above analysis.
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plaintiff has failed to allege that he intends dorchase the Class Products again in the fu

Accordingly, the Court dismisses plaintiff’s demand for injunctive relief.

CONCLUSION
Accordingly, the Court GRANTS IN PARTnd DENIES IN PART defendant’s motion
dismiss the complaint and GRANTS plaintiff leave teeachthe complaint. Doek No. 31. If plaintiff

wishes to amend the complaint, plaintiff must do séégruary 24, 2014

IT 1S SO ORDERED.

Dated: January 29, 2014 SM Mﬁﬁ_'"-

SUSAN ILLSTON
United States District Judge
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